# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAWN K. ROBERTS as ACTING SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC10-1508 L.T. Case No. 2010 CA 2114

BRIAN K. DOYLE and FLORIDA AFL-CIO,

Appellees.

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

#### **RONALD LATHAN**

Deputy Solicitor General **RUSSELL S. KENT** Special Counsel for Litigation **ASHLEY E. DAVIS** Assistant Attorney General OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol, PL-01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399 *Attorneys for Dawn K. Roberts* 

# **C.B. UPTON**

General Counsel FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE R.A. Gray Building 500 South Bronough Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399 *Attorney for Dawn K. Roberts* 

# **

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Appellant, DAWN K. ROBERTS, in her official capacity as the Interim Secretary of State of Florida, was Defendant below; this brief will refer to her as the Secretary. Appellees, BRIAN K. DOYLE and FLORIDA AFL-CIO, were the Plaintiffs below; this brief will refer to them as Appellees.

The record on appeal consists of one (1) volume, which will be referenced as "R.," followed by the appropriate page or paragraph number(s), e.g., R. 25-26. The record also contains a transcript of a July 22, 2010 hearing, which will be referenced as "T.," followed by the appropriate page number of the transcript.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### **Statement of the Case**

The sole issue before this Court is whether the ballot title and summary for Amendment 3 clearly and conclusively violates section 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. The court granted judgment in favor of Appellees, and directed the Secretary to remove the ballot title and summary from the November 2010 general election ballot. R.50-57. On June 17, 2010, Appellees filed an action challenging the ballot title and summary for Amendment 3. R.4-9. The Secretary filed her answer on July 16, 2010. R.48-49. The case was expedited and the parties each submitted memoranda of law. R.11-31, 32-47. A final, non-evidentiary hearing was held on July 22, 2010. The Secretary filed a notice of supplemental authority on the same day, addressing an inquiry raised by the court at the hearing.<sup>1</sup> On July 23, 2010, the trial court ordered that the ballot title and summary be removed from the ballot. R.57. The Secretary appealed on July 26, 2010. R.58-59. On July 30, 2010, the First District Court of Appeal certified the appeal as one of great public importance and this Court, on August 3, 2010, accepted jurisdiction and expedited briefing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The notice of supplemental authority was filed in the lower court but was inadvertently left out of the record on appeal. The notice will be filed with this Court.

#### **Statement of the Facts**

Amendment 3 was filed in the Senate on January 6, 2009 as Senate Joint Resolution ("SJR") 532. The Florida Legislature passed 532 by a vote of 26 - 11 in the Senate on May 1, 2009 and a vote of 104 - 13 in the House the same day. R.34. On May 29, 2009, the Secretary approved the measure for placement on the November 2010 general election ballot as Amendment 3. R.4 ¶ 2, 34. Amendment 3 would, among other things, amend Article VII of the Florida Constitution to provide an additional, temporary homestead exemption to individuals who have not owned a principal residence during the previous 8 years. R5-6, 6-7 ¶ 5, 17. The relevant provision of Amendment 3 states:

**SECTION 6. Homestead exemptions.**—

\*\*\*

(f)(1) By general law, and subject to conditions specified therein, the legislature shall provide an additional homestead exemption to the person or persons who:

a. Establish the right to receive the homestead exemption in subsection (a) within one year after purchasing the homestead property; and

b. Have not owned a principal residence during the eight year period before the purchase. For married persons, neither the purchaser nor his or her spouse may have owned a principal residence during the preceding eight years.

(2) The additional homestead exemption shall equal 25 percent of the just value of the property on January 1 of the year

in which the homestead exemption in subsection (a) is received, but not more than \$100,000.

a. The amount of the additional exemption shall be reduced in each subsequent year by an amount equal to twenty percent of the amount of the initial additional exemption or by an amount equal to the difference between the just value of the property and the assessed value determined under subsection (d) of section 4 of this Article, whichever is greater.

b. The additional homestead exemption shall not apply after the fifth year after the initial additional exemption is granted.

# (3) Only one additional exemption under this subsection may apply to a single homestead property.

Amendment 3 would also amend Article XII of the Florida Constitution to establish the effective date of the additional exemption as January 1, 2011, "for properties purchased on or after January 1, 2010." Omission of the effective date was not challenged or addressed in the order appealed. <u>See</u> R.4-9, 11-19, 40-57; T.9, 10. Assessments are made on January 1st of the year following the purchase of the home. <u>See</u> Art. VII, § 4(d)(3) and (4), Fla. Const.; R.35. The relevant provision of Amendment 3 states:

Additional homestead exemption for first-time homestead property owners.—The amendment to subsection (f) of Section 6 of Article VII providing for an additional homestead exemption for persons who have not owned a principal residence within an eight-year period and this section shall take effect January 1, 2011, and shall be available for properties purchased on or after January 1, 2010.

The challenged portion of the ballot title and summary for Amendment 3 states:

# ...ADDITIONAL HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION FOR NEW HOMESTEAD OWNERS. –

\*\*\*

This amendment also requires the Legislature to provide an additional homestead exemption for persons who have not owned a principal residence during the preceding 8 years. Under the exemption, 25 percent of the just value of a first-time homestead, up to \$100,000, will be exempt from property taxes. The amount of the additional exemption will decrease in each succeeding year for 5 years by the greater of 20 percent of the initial additional exemption or the difference between the just value and the assessed value of the property. The additional exemption will not be available in the 6th and subsequent years.

Amendment 3 would provide an additional, temporary homestead exemption

for those who have not owned a principal residence during the preceding 8 years. R.5-6, 29,13, 17, 54, 56. The ballot title refers to them as "new homestead

owners." R.30. There is no dispute that the amount of the exemption is disclosed

in the summary – "25 percent of the just value"; the cap on that amount is

disclosed - "up to \$100,000"; the duration limitation is disclosed - "will not be

available in the 6th and subsequent years"; and the exemption's "additional" nature

is disclosed. R.13, 16, 54, 55; T.34.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in ordering that the ballot title and summary for Amendment 3 be removed from the ballot. The chief purpose of Amendment 3 is to provide an additional, temporary homestead exemption to individuals who have not owned a principal residence during the previous 8 years, *i.e.*, the "new homestead owners" referenced in the ballot title. Both the ballot title and summary use clear and unambiguous language, and fairly informs voters of this amendment's chief purpose and describes its essential terms.

This Court should reverse and find that the ballot title and summary are not misleading and do not violate section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. Standard of Review and Appellees' Burden

The sole issue is whether the ballot title and summary for Amendment 3 violate section 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. The standard of review is de novo. <u>Dep't of</u> <u>State v. Slough</u>, 992 So. 2d 142, 147 (Fla. 2008). It is Appellees' burden to prove that the ballot title and summary are clearly and conclusively defective for failing to inform the voter of the chief purpose of the amendment or misleading the public generally. It is this Court's "duty [] to uphold [the Legislature's] action if there is any reasonable theory under which it can be done." <u>Gray v. Golden</u>, 89 So. 2d 785, 790 (Fla. 1956); <u>Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Fla. Marriage Prot.</u> Amendment, 926 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 2006).

# II. Background

#### A. The Legislature's Proposal

The Staff Analysis accompanying SJR 532 explains that it "proposes an amendment ... to create an additional homestead exemption for first-time homebuyers." Fla. S., CS/SJR 532, Staff Analysis 1 (Apr. 15, 2009). The exemption would apply to January 2011 assessments for homes purchased on or after January 1, 2010. <u>Id.</u> at 4. A related analysis notes that the reference to "first-time" homebuyers implicitly means a home purchase not within the previous 8 years. <u>See</u> Fla. Rev. Est. Conf., CS/SJR 532, Analysis 1 (June 8, 2009).

The assessed value of residential property is set at a level equal to the property's just value during the first year in which a Florida homeowner establishes a homestead exemption. <u>See</u> Art. VII, § 4(d), Fla. Const. The property's assessed value is then recalculated in each subsequent year that the homestead exemption is maintained, but the growth in assessed value from the prior year is capped at the lower of three percent or the percentage change in the Consumer Price Index. <u>Id.</u> During normal economic periods the just value of the property thus grows at a faster rate than the capped assessed value, increasing the size of the assessment differential and the tax savings for the homeowner. <u>See</u> Fla. Rev. Est. Conf., CS/SJR 532, Analysis 1 (June 8, 2009).

Explaining the need for the proposed amendment, the Revenue Estimating Conference analysis noted that "new homesteaders" are at a significant tax disadvantage to established homesteaders. <u>Id.</u> Such individuals "often pay significantly higher taxes because the new home's assessed value is equal to the just value," whereas "established homesteaders [get to] transfer built-up differentials when they move, thus reducing their first-year's tax impact." <u>Id.</u> New homesteaders simply do not have the built-up differentials to offset their firstyear tax impact. <u>See</u> T.30.

8

#### **B.** Legal Standards

"The deliberative processes of the Legislature are surrounded by guarantees that the duly elected representatives of the people will know what they are doing when they act in their law-making role." <u>Smathers v. Smith</u>, 338 So. 2d 825, 828 (Fla. 1976). The Florida Constitution specifically empowers the Legislature to propose amendments for submission to the voters. <u>See</u> Art. XI, §§ 1 and 5(a), Fla. Const. Any resulting proposal for a Constitutional amendment must be embodied in a joint resolution, "agreed to by three-fifths of the membership of each house." <u>Id.</u> at § 1.

Section 101.161(1), Florida Statutes, requires that the ballot title and a summary of the amendment's "substance" be printed on the ballot in "clear and unambiguous language." "Simply put, the ballot must give the voter fair notice of the decision he must make." <u>Grose v. Firestone</u>, 422 So. 2d 303, 305 (Fla. 1982), quoting <u>Askew v. Firestone</u>, 421 So. 2d 151, 155 (Fla. 1982); <u>see also Advisory</u> <u>Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Fee on Everglades Sugar Prod.</u>, 681 So. 2d 1124, 1127 (Fla. 1996). It is not necessary to "explain [the amendment's] complete terms;" the function of the ballot title and summary is not "to provide [the voter] with that needed education." <u>Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Physician Shall</u> Charge the Same Fee for the Same Health Care Serv. to Every Patient, 880 So. 2d

659, 665 (Fla. 2004) quoting <u>Metro. Dade County v. Shiver</u>, 365 So. 2d 210, 213 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

Florida courts have noted that voters have a duty to educate themselves on the merits of proposed constitutional amendments and have access to several sources of information from which to do so. See, e.g., Shiver, 365 So. 2d at 213 ("Under our system of free elections, the voter must acquaint himself with the details of a proposed ordinance on a referendum together with the pros and cons thereon before he enters the voting booth"); see also Hill v. Milander, 72 So. 2d 796, 798 (Fla. 1954) ("It is a matter of common knowledge that many weeks are consumed, in advance of elections, apprising the electorate of the issues to be determined"); Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Tax Limitation, 673 So. 2d 864, 868 (Fla. 1996) ("The voter must be presumed to have a certain amount of common sense and knowledge," such as an understanding of how the state taxation system operates). Moreover, pursuant to section 101.171, Florida Statutes, a copy of each proposed amendment is conspicuously posted at every precinct on election day. See Same Fee for the Same Health Care, 880 So. 2d at 665 (noting that "[a]ll voters will be on notice of this definition, as the full text of the amendment will be posted at all voting precincts on election day").

"The lack of detail ... does not render the title and summary misleading." Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Local Growth Mgmt. Plan Changes, 2 So. 3d 118, 123 (Fla. 2008); see also Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Funding of Embryonic Stem Cell Research, 959 So. 2d 195, 201 (Fla. 2007) ("This Court has previously approved summaries that omit certain details that are otherwise included in the full amendment"). Stated somewhat differently, the standard is not whether the title or summary might possibly have explained the amendment in a better or more complete way. See Shiver, 365 So. 2d at 213. The issue is whether the title and summary inform the voter of the "chief purpose" of the amendment and do not mislead. Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Florida Marriage Prot. Amendment, 926 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 2006). The ballot title and the entire summary are read together and in their appropriate context when considering any challenge to their terms. See Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Ltd. Casinos, 644 So. 2d 71, 75 (Fla. 1994); see also Tax Limitation, 673 So. 2d at 868 (reading the ballot title "with common sense and in context with the summary").

Florida courts have a "duty ... to uphold the proposal unless it can be shown to be clearly and conclusively defective." <u>Floridians Against Casino Takeover v.</u> <u>Let's Help Florida</u>, 363 So. 2d 337, 339 (Fla. 1978). Given this duty, courts review proposed amendments with "extreme care, caution and restraint." Askew v. <u>Firestone</u>, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982). As the Florida Supreme Court noted over fifty (50) years ago, "our first duty is to uphold [the Legislature's] action if there is any reasonable theory under which it can be done." <sup>2</sup> <u>Gray v. Golden</u>, 89 So. 2d 785, 790 (Fla. 1956). "The Legislature which approved and submitted the proposed amendment took the same oath to protect the Constitution that we did" and the Court's duty "is even more impelling when considering a proposed constitutional amendment which goes to the people for their approval or disapproval." <u>Id.</u> Finally, the "Court's review of a proposed amendment is strictly limited to these legal issues and does not include an evaluation of the merits or the wisdom of the proposed amendment." <u>Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Florida</u> <u>Transp. Initiative for Statewide High Speed Monorail, Fixed Guideway or Magnetic Levitation Sys.</u>, 769 So. 2d 367, 368 (Fla. 2000).

# III. The Ballot Language of Amendment 3 is Accurate

The chief purpose of Amendment 3 is to provide an additional, temporary homestead exemption to individuals who have not owned a principal residence during the previous 8 years, *i.e.*, the "new homestead owners" referenced in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Including ordering that the text of the proposed amendment itself appear on the ballot in lieu of the challenged ballot title and summary, as the Florida Supreme Court has ordered in the past. <u>See ACLU of Florida v. Hood</u>, No. SC04-1671 (Sept. 2, 2004). <u>See generally Dep't of Legal Affairs v. Dist. Court of Appeal, 5th Dist.</u>, 434 So. 2d 310, 313 (Fla. 1983) (generally proper to "suggest to a court how it previously viewed the proposition").

ballot title. Indeed, SJR 532 states the purpose of the amendment is "to provide an additional homestead exemption to persons who have not owned a principal residence within the preceding 8 years."

Every detail of Amendment 3 need not be discussed in the ballot title and summary; the law only requires that its chief purpose be set forth clearly and without deception. <u>See Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Ltd. Political Terms in</u> <u>Certain Elective Offices</u>, 592 So. 2d 225, 228 (Fla. 1991). The title and summary clearly indicate who is eligible to receive the exemption and the parameters for eligibility. <u>See Fee on Everglades Sugar Prod.</u>, 681 So. 2d at 1128-29 (finding that regardless of whether the levy is called a "fee" or a "tax" it is clear who pays it, how much, for how long, and why, and the voter is thus fairly informed of the amendment's chief purpose).

#### A. The Property Purchase Date is Not Material to the Chief Purpose

The trial court erroneously found that the purchase date of the property, "on or after January 1, 2010," is a material condition of the additional homestead exemption, and the failure to reference specifically it in the ballot language was misleading. R.54-55. The property purchase date is not material and there is no need to disclose it where the summary adequately informs voters, as they stand in the booth in 2010, that the exemption is for "persons who have not owned a principal residence during the preceding 8 years."

13

The property purchase date is merely a detail of Amendment 3. It is not its chief purpose. The additional exemption would be available beginning on January 1, 2011. Assessments for homestead exemptions are made on January 1 of the year following a home purchase. See Art. VII,  $\S 4(d)(3)$  and (4), Fla. Const. Assessments made on and after January 1, 2011 – Amendment 3's effective date – could only be made on properties purchased on or after January 1, 2010. The property purchase date is a detail of the effective date of Amendment 3 that has not been challenged and is not subject to this appeal. T.9 (Appellees' counsel: "we're not dealing here with an effective date"); see also T.4-9 (not challenging the omission of the effective date). Amendment 3's chief purpose is to provide an additional homestead exemption to a particular subset of individuals. Indeed, Appellees and the court below both describe Amendment 3's purpose as providing an additional homestead exemption to persons meeting certain conditions. R.4, 11, 50.

A lack of detail does not render the ballot title and summary misleading. <u>See Local Growth Mgmt. Plan Changes</u>, 2 So. 3d at 123 (because there was no conflict with current law, the lack of detail was not misleading); <u>see also Funding</u> <u>of Embryonic Stem Cell Research</u>, 959 So. 2d at 201 (lack of detail on donor compensation not misleading because voter is fairly informed of the chief purpose - state funding of embryonic stem cell research); <u>Same Fee for the Same Health</u> <u>Care</u>, 880 So. 2d at 666 (failure to define the term "charge" was not misleading because the summary reflected the chief purpose); <u>compare Advisory Op. to the</u> <u>Att'y Gen. re Indep. Nonpartisan Comm'n to Apportion Legis. and Cong. Dist.s</u> <u>Which Replaces Apportionment by Leg.</u>, 926 So.2d 1218, 1228-29 (Fla. 2006) (summary was wholly incorrect where referenced "non-partisan method" for selection of commissioners was actually partisan). The ballot title and summary do not conceal or omit the chief purpose of Amendment 3 and do not conflict with any current constitutional provision, rather the amendment writes on a "clean slate," creating an "additional" exemption. <u>See Ltd. Political Terms</u>, 592 So. 2d at 228 (finding the amendment wrote on a "clean slate" and therefore its summary was not misleading for failing to indicate the current lack of term limits).

The homestead exemption at issue only applies to property purchased on or after January 1, 2010. The fact that this date is not mentioned in the ballot summary does not suggest that voters will be misled. It is "not necessary" to explain every detail. <u>Funding of Embryonic Stem Cell Research</u>, 959 So. 2d at 201 (emphasis added); <u>see also Local Growth Mgmt. Plan Changes</u>, 2 So. 3d at 123 (omitted details of the petition process used to effect the subject amendment's chief purpose); <u>Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Protect People, Especially</u> <u>Youth, from Addiction, Disease, and Other Health Hazards of Using Tobacco</u>, 926 So. 2d 1186, 1194 (Fla. 2006) (finding that "[t]he ballot summary need not, and does not, reflect every component of the program"). "[T]hat certain details...are omitted...is not the test." <u>Shiver</u>, 365 So. 2d at 213. A ballot summary is not defective for omitting a detail where the primary purpose of the amendment is disclosed. <u>See Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re Florida's Amendment to Reduce</u> <u>Class Size</u>, 816 So. 2d 580, 585-86 (Fla. 2002) (omitting the exception for "extracurricular classes" was not fatal "because the primary purpose of the amendment-the legislative funding of reduced classroom size-[wa]s adequately disclosed").

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