IN THIS COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-1508

DAWN K. ROBERTS as ACTING SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

BRIAN K. DOYLE and FLORIDA AFL-CIO,

Appellees

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES BRIAN K. DOYLE AND FLORIDA AFL-CIO

BARRY RICHARD Florida Bar No. 105599 GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.A. 101 East College Avenue Tallahassee, FL 32301 Telephone (850) 222-6891 Facsimile (850) 681-0207

Counsel for Appellees

GREENBERG TRAURIG, P.A.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court properly removed Amendment 3 from the ballot because the ballot summary is materially misleading in two respects. First, the amendment makes an additional homestead exemption available to anyone who has not owned a principal residence for eight years prior to purchasing the property on which the exemption is sought, *provided that the property was* purchased on or after January 1, 2010. The ballot summary mentions the eight year requirement, but fails to disclose that the exemption is only available for properties purchased on or after January 1, 2010, thus eliminating from eligibility most current property owners in Florida. The provision is not just an effective date that indicates when a property owner can first *apply* for the new exemption. It is a condition on eligibility that permanently disallows the exemption for anyone who purchased the property before January 1, 2010. The provision is not, as the Secretary argues, "merely a detail" that does not have to be included in the summary. It is a significant limitation on eligibility for an exemption that is a chief aspect of the proposed amendment.

Second, the summary states that it is only available for a "first-time homestead." The term "first-time" indicates to the voter that in order to be eligible for the exemption, a person must never previously have owned homestead property. There was such a requirement in SJR 532 as originally introduced, but it was removed in favor of the eight year limitation prior to passage. There is now no requirement that a person have not previously declared homestead and there is no mention of the term "first-time homestead" or any equivalent language in the amendment text. Contrary to what the ballot summary indicates, the exemption is available to anyone who meets the eight year requirement regardless of how many times prior to that the person declared homestead.

The Secretary suggests that voters should realize that the provision requiring an eight year hiatus on ownership of a principal residence defines "first-time homestead." However, there is nothing in the summary to indicate that the two references are linked or that "first-time homestead" really means first time in eight years. The terms "principal residence" and "homestead" are not synonymous. It is reasonable for a voter to conclude from the summary language that the inclusion of both terms means that a person must not have owned a principal residence for eight years before purchase *and* never previously have declared homestead.

These two provisions create material conditions on a chief aspect of the proposed amendment. This Court has made clear that it is not enough that voters might have been able to learn of the actual effect of the amendment before entering the voting booth. Provisions of this significance must be noted in the ballot summary, and the erroneous statements in the summary of Amendment 3 are misleading to an extent that this Court has consistently held to be of sufficient magnitude to require removal from the ballot.

The Court should not, as the amicus suggests, order the entire 12-page amendment placed on the ballot in lieu of the summary. There is no legal authority or precedent for the Court to take such action and it would set a bad precedent.

ARGUMENT

THE BALLOT AND SUMMARY OF AMENDMENT 3 ARE MATERIALLY MISLEADING AS TO TWO SIGNIFICANT ELIGIBILITY PROVISIONS.

Amendment 3 would effect a major change in the Florida Constitution by significantly reducing the primary source of revenue by which local governments fund their operations. The amendment would lower by 50% the cap on annual increases in assessments of non-homestead property – which is not challenged in this action – and would provide an additional homestead exemption to a limited group of persons who are able to meet certain key conditions, which is challenged. Because the proposition fails to give voters clear and unambiguous notice of those conditions, the lower court properly ordered it removed from the ballot.

The standards for evaluation of a ballot title and summary have been oft repeated by this Court. In order to appear on the ballot, the title and summary of a proposed amendment must be accurate and must "provide fair notice of the content of the proposed amendment so that the voter will not be misled as to its purpose, and can cast an intelligent and informed ballot." *Voluntary Universal Pre-Kindergarten Education*, 824 So. 2d 161, 166 (Fla. 2002). The voter "must be able to comprehend the sweep of each proposal from a fair notification in the

proposition itself that is neither less nor more extensive than it appears to be." *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 155 (Fla. 1982). This Court has held that the application of these principles requires a reviewing court to focus on two questions:

- Whether the ballot title and summary, in clear and unambiguous language, fairly inform the voter of the chief purpose of the amendment; and
- Whether the language of the title and summary, as written, misleads the public.

Florida Marriage Protection Amendment, 926 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 2006); *Independent Nonpartisan Comm'n*, 926 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 2006). These requirements are rooted in constitutional law and apply "across-the-board to all constitutional amendments" including those proposed by the Florida Legislature. *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7, 14 (Fla. 2000); *Florida Department of State v. Slough*, 992 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 2008).

It is true, as the Secretary states, that this Court has recognized that it "must act with extreme care, caution, and restraint before we remove a constitutional amendment from the vote of the people," and that it will do so only when "the laws governing the process have been clearly and conclusively violated." *Florida Marriage Protection Amendment*, 926 So. 2d at 1233 (Fla.

2006). However, the Court has also emphasized the equal importance of ensuring that the ballot title and summary are clear and accurate. Laws Related to Discrimination, 632 So. 2d 1018, 1021 (Fla. 1994) ("although we are wary of interfering with the public's right to vote on an initiative proposal [citation omitted] we are equally cautious of approving the validity of a ballot summary that is not clearly understandable.") Accordingly, the Court has not hesitated to remove measures from the ballot when the title and summary included terminology that was affirmatively misleading or omitted material facts necessary to make the summary not misleading, Limited Political Terms, 592 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1991); *Casino Authorization*, 656 So. 2d 466, 469 (Fla. 1995) ("This language is misleading not because of what it says, but what it fails to say."), or contained an ambiguity that required the voter to guess at the amendment's meaning or effect. Smith v. American Airlines, 606 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 1992); Right of Citizens to Choose Healthcare Providers, 705 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1998).

The ballot summary for Amendment 3 contains two significant flaws, both of which are materially misleading and either of which independently requires that the proposition be removed from the ballot. The ballot summary fails to inform the voter that only properties purchased after January 1, 2010 are eligible for an additional exemption.

The proposal would amend Article VII, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution to provide certain persons with an additional homestead exemption equal to 25% of the just value of the property in the first year of its application and a reducing percentage during the next four years. However, the amendment makes the exemption available to only a narrow portion of Florida homeowners by placing a significant condition upon eligibility. The proposal would amend Article XII of the Florida Constitution to include the following language in pertinent part:

The amendment to subsection (f) of Section 6 of Article VII providing for an additional homestead exemption for persons who have not owned a principal residence within an eight-year period and this section shall take effect January 1, 2011, and shall be available for properties purchased on or after January 1, 2010.

[emphasis added] Neither the title nor the summary give any hint that the additional exemption is only available for properties purchased on or after January 1, 2010.

The Secretary argues that the property purchase date "is merely a detail" and then mixes a defense of the January 1, 2010 purchase date requirement with a defense of the unchallenged January 1, 2011 effective date of amendment.

The January 1, 2011 date is truly an effective date, providing the first date on which the additional exemption can be *applied for*. That may well be a mere detail, at least in some amendments, and it is not challenged in this case. The January 1, 2010 purchase date threshold is a different matter entirely. It is not an effective date at all. The language clearly states that the exemption "*shall be available* for properties purchased on or after January 1, 2010." It is a material limitation on eligibility to claim the exemption at any time, eliminating from eligibility most property owners in Florida. It defines the group to whom the new benefit is offered by the amendment.

The Secretary's assertion that the purchase date limitation is merely a detail suggests that it would not be material to a voter's decision, but that makes no sense. As the lower court noted, a voter might be persuaded to vote for the amendment in the mistaken belief that he or she would be entitled to the new exemption and, conversely, a voter might be led to vote against the amendment for concern over the fiscal impact of a new exemption that appears to have broader applicability than it actually has.

This Court has removed from the ballot a number of proposed amendments based upon the failure of the summaries to include material information similar to that which is lacking here. One such case was *Florida Department of State v. Slough*, 992 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 2008). The proposed amendment eliminated state required school property taxes and purported to replace them with an "equivalent hold harmless amount." The summary mentioned the hold harmless provision, but failed to mention that the amendment only required it for one fiscal year. The Court cited the failure of the summary to give notice of this limitation as a ground for removing the proposal from the ballot. The Court stated:

We agree with the trial court that the summary is misleading because of its failure to mention the duration limitation with regard to the "hold harmless amount," which is one of the chief aspects of the amendment. This failure leaves the voters with the impression that the amendment will accomplish something permanent and continuing, when in reality it does not.

Id. at 148. As in *Slough*, the failure of the summary in the case at bar relates to one of the chief aspects of the proposed amendment — the additional homestead exemption — and the summary tells the voters that the exemption is available to many more property owners than it actually is.

In *Property Tax Cap*, 2 So. 3d 968 (Fla. 2009), this Court again removed a provision from the ballot because of its failure to notify the voters of a material condition. The amendment would have placed a cap on total ad valorem taxes, permitting exceptions with voter approval. The Court found that the summary was misleading because it failed to note that even with voter approval, an exception from the limit could not extend for longer than two years.²

The Secretary cites language in several cases to the effect that a voter is expected to become acquainted with the details of a ballot proposal and to have a reasonable degree of common knowledge. The cases cited and others making similar comments are inapposite. The quoted language was discussing either details not deemed by the court to be material to a voter's decision or the meaning of commonly understood terms. Such language, which is often cited out of context in ballot review cases, has never been used by this Court to excuse a material omission or misstatement. To the contrary, the Court has made clear that the ballot title and summary must themselves fully and accurately inform the voter of all material provisions, and that failure to do so will render the proposition unfit for the ballot. Smith v. American Airlines, 606 So. 2d 618 (Fla. 1992); Wadhams v. Board of County Comm'rs, 567 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 1990); Askew v. Firestone, 421 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 1982).³

 $^{^{2}}$ The factors that motivated the dissent in *Property Tax Cap* are distinguishable. The eligibility limitation in the instant case is considerably more significant than the durational limitation in *Property Tax Cap*, and this legislative proposal is not subject to the 75 word limit on the summary.

³ In this case, even a conscientious voter who reads the text of the proposed amendment itself could well be misled as to the post-January 1, 2010 property purchase requirement. Article XII of the Constitution, entitled "Schedule," which is where the purchase date limitation would be placed, contains a series of true effective dates and grandfather provisions relating to previous

The ballot summary erroneously indicates that certain homeowners would not be eligible for the additional exemption.

The pertinent portion of the ballot summary reads:

This amendment also requires the Legislature to provide an additional homestead exemption for persons who have not owned a principal residence during the preceding 8 years. Under the exemption, 25 percent of the just value of *a first-time* homestead, up to \$100,000, will be exempt from property taxes. * * * *.

[emphasis added] The use of the term "first-time homestead" conveys the unmistakable message that in order to be eligible for the additional exemption, a property owner must never have previously declared homestead. In fact, nothing in the text of the proposed amendment requires that a person be a firsttime homestead owner or that property be designated homestead for the first time. The pertinent text of the proposed amendment states:

(f)(1) By general law, and subject to conditions specified therein, the legislature shall provide an additional homestead exemption to the person or persons who:

a. Establish the right to receive the homestead exemption in subsection (a) within one year after purchasing the homestead property; and

amendments. Most of the text of Amendment 3 adding language to Article XII does, in fact, provide for the effective dates of the amendment's various provisions. However, inserted at the very end is the phrase limiting the availability of the additional homestead exemption to properties purchased on or after January 1, 2010. If enacted, it would be the only provision in Article XII establishing an eligibility requirement rather than an effective date.

b. Have not owned a principal residence during the eight year period before the purchase. For married persons, neither the purchaser nor his or her spouse may have owned a principal residence during the preceding eight years.

The only eligibility requirement in the amendment relating to period of ownership is that the person have not owned "a principal residence" during the preceding eight years. A person who has lived in rental housing since 2001 would be eligible for the exemption regardless of how many times the person had declared homestead in prior years, but that is not what the summary says.

There appears to be a consensus in this case that the terms "principal residence" and "homestead" are not synonymous. The lower court stated:

The summary does refer to the principal residence requirement, but voters cannot be presumed to know that the authors intended that the term "principal residence" be read synonymously with "homestead." Florida law does not define "principal residence" as the equivalent of "homestead" for tax purposes.

[R. 56] The Secretary agrees that the terms are not synonymous, stating that, "Contrary to the trial court's order, 'principal residence' is not intended to be read synonymously with 'homestead." Appellant brief, p. 20.⁴ And the legislative history of SJR 532, which placed Amendment 3 on the ballot, shows that the Legislature in fact was not using the terms synonymously. The

⁴ Despite the Secretary's acknowledgment that the terms are not intended to be read synonymously, her argument rests upon the assumption that a voter will read them synonymously.

language of the pertinent portion of SJR 532 as originally introduced in the

Legislature said just what the ballot summary says:

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